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1 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") alleges as follows:

2 JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3 1. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d)(1)

4 and 22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d)(I) &

5 77v(a), and Sections 21 (d)(l), 21 (d)(3)(A), 21(e) and 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

6 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(l), 78u(d)(3)(A), 78u(e), and 78aa. The Defendants

7 have, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of

8 the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange in connection with the transactions,

9 acts, practices and courses ofbusiness alleged in this Complaint.

10 2. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act, 15

11 U.S.C. § 77v(a), and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa, because certain of the

12 transactions, acts, practices, and courses of conduct constituting the violations alleged herein

13 occurred within this district, the entity defendant is located in this district, and the individual

14 defendant resides in this district.

15 SUMMARY

16 3. This action has been filed to halt an ongoing secUrities fraud scheme targeting

17 members of the Somali immigrant community who live in San Diego, Seattle, and elsewhere.

18 Since at least 2006, Defendant Mohamud Abdi Ahmed ("Ahmed") has raised at least $3 million

19 from over 40 investors - including $200,000 from a San Diego mosque - for his purported stock

20 trading and financial services business operated through Defendant Shidaal Express, Inc.

21 ("Shidaal Express"). Ahmed made false promises of exorbitant returns of 5% per month - or

22 60% per year - claiming that for each $10,000 investment made by an'investor, the investor

23 would receive $500 a month. Ahmed represented he would generate those returns from trading

24 stocks and there was no risk of loss. Ahmed told investors their money was safe and he had a

25 history of good results. Ahmed promised investors, many ofwhom invested in cash or cashier's

26 checks, he would repay their principal at any time upon their request. Investors initially received

27 some of the purported monthly returns, many of which were paid in cash, but Ahmed ceased

28 making these payments late last year. Since Ahmed stopped paying monthly returns, he has been

1
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1 lulling investors with false promises of repayment ofprincipal and/or falsely claiming that he

2 could not repay them because the government had seized his assets. Several investors invested

3 their life's savings with Ahmed because others in the Somali community had invested with

4 Ahmed, received promised returns, and trusted him.

5 4. Ahmed also solicited money for his money transfer business and made

6 misrepresentations to investors about the use of investor proceeds. Ahmed claimed he was

7 raising money to obtain a money transfer license, but actually was trying to buy an interest in

8 another money transfer company. Ahmed's purchase of that interest was unsuccessful. Ahmed

9 misappropriated investors' funds by claiming to sell them shares in his money transfer business,

10 but investors who received Shidaal Express stock certificates do not appear on a list of Shidaal

11 Express shareholders Ahmed prepared.

12 5. Shidaal Express continues to maintain a website which touts the company's stock

13 trading business and, as recent!y as November 9, 2009, a sign posted outside a Shidaal Express

14 store in San Diego advertises "Investment Opportunities."

15 6. The Defendants, by engaging in the conduct described in this Complaint, have

16 violated, and unless enjoined ~i11 continue to violate, the antifraud provisions of the federal

17 securities laws.

18 THE DEFENDANTS

19 7. Mohamud Abdi Ahmed, age 45, is a resident of Spring Valley, California.

20 Ahmed is the CEO, president, secretary, chainnan and founder of Shidaal Express. Ahmed does

21 not hold any securities licenses and is not registered as or associated with an investment adviser.

22 8. Shidaal Express, Inc. is a California corporation located in San Diego,

23 California. It was also incorporated in Minnesota and Washington state. It is not registered with

24 the Commission in any capacity and it has not registered any offering of its securities under the

25 Securities Act or a class of securities under the Exchange Act. Shidaal Express is controlled by

26 Ahmed.

27 III

28 III

2
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1 FACTS

2 The Defendants Operate a Fraudulent Scheme

3 Background

4 9. Ahmed formed Shidaal Express in 2006 to provide check-cashing~ money

5 transfer~ and other similar services for the Somali immigrant community. Shidaal Express

6 operates stores in the San Diego area and may operate in other cities with large Somali

7 communities. Since 2007 ~ Shidaal Express has been registered as .a Money Service Business by

8 the U.S. Treasury Department~s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network. Certain business

9 listings on the Internet describe Shidaal Express as a "one stop convenience center for all bill

10 pays~ money orders~ money wirings~ check cashing and prepaid debit cards." Among the

11 services touted on a sign at one Shidaal Express storefront in San Diego is: "Investment

12 Opportunities." This sign was visible as recently as November 9~ 2009.

13 10. Shidaal Express currently maintains a website~ www.shidaal.com~ which is

14 registered to Ahmed and another company he controls. The website does not reference Shidaal

15 Express" money transfer services and provides no relevant information about the company or its

16 operations other than listing Ahmed as its chairman and CEO. Instead~ the website provides

17 stock recommendations~ daily stock forecasts~ and other information about stock trading.

18 Specifically~ the website shows "Daily Real Time Trades" and invites the viewer to "Come here

19 and watch our real time trades." The website claims to serve ''The Happiest ~ustomers" and

20 invites viewers to register for the site to receive ..email notification updates" and other things that

21 are password protected. The website contains a lengthy "Disclaimef~ claiming it is -not involved

22 in investment advisory and securities-related activities under the federal securities laws.

23 Ahmed's Investment Scheme

24 11. Since at least 2006~ Ahmed has raised at least $3 million from more than 40

25 investors in the Somali immigrant community in San Diego~ Seattle~ and elsewhere. Several

26 investors knew ofAhmed through a mosque in San Diego, which itself invested $200~000 with

27 Ahmed. Ahmed directly solicited some investors including giving presentations to prospective

28 investors at a hotel near the Seattle-Tacoma airport in 2008. Ahmed offered to pay $500

3
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13. Several investors invested their life's savings with Ahmed because others in the

Somali community had invested with him, they said they received promised returns, and they

said they trusted him. Investors often invested in cash or with cashier's checks.

14. Ahmed did not give investors any documents about the investment before they

invested. Ahmed did not provide any documents or receipts to acknowledge investments.

Ahmed did not provide investors with any account statements. Until late 2008, investors

received monthly returns usually in cash or in some cases through payments to relatives.

15. The Defendants had securities brokerage accounts, most of them in Ahmed's own

name, which were used to engage in risky securities trading strategies that do not appear to have

generated profits sufficient to pay investors the returns of 5% per month promised by Ahmed.

16. Ahmed also solicited funds for his money transfer business. Ahmed represented

to at least one investor in 2008 that he needed to raise $1.2 million to obtain a license forhis

money transfer business, claiming to have already raised $600,000. In those instances, Ahmed

promised to issue shares of Shidaal Express exchange for investor funds. In other instances,

however, Ahmed simply rolled-over investors' prior investments into Shidaal Express without

their consent. For example, an investor who previously invested $10,000 for the 5% monthly

return later invested $40,000 to acquire shares of Shidaal Express and $30,000 for another

separate investment. Ahmed, however, gave the investor a stock certificate for the entire

$70,000 investment, even though $10,000 had been made for the fixed-return investment. The

1 cOmmission to existing investors for each new investor they referred. Other investors

2 approached Ahmed by referral from existing investors or through word ofmouth in the Somali

3 community.

4 12. Ahmed promised investors a guaranteed 5% monthly return (i.e., 60% annually),

5 payable on a morithly basis. Ahmed claimed he generated returns from stock trading. Ahmed

6 touted his prior education and experience as a stock trader and claimed he had never lost any

7 money. Ahmed insisted on investments in increments of $1 0,000, which he told some investors

8 qQuld only be made in cash. Ahmed assured investors they could request the money back at any

9 time.

10
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1 investor neither consented to the rollover nor received any meaningful response when he

2 questioned Ahmed about it. Ahmed rolled-over other investors in a similar fashion.

3 17. In late 2007 the Defendants sought to acquire a 49% interest in a San Diego-area

4 money transfer company licensed by the California Department ofFinancial Institutions ("DFI").

5 As part of the transaction, Shidaal Express agreed to make a capital contribution in excess of

6 $500,000 into that company, which filed an application with the DFI to seek approval of the

7 transaction. DFI conditionally approved the transaction in late 2008, and required Shidaal

8 Express to make a $500,000 capital contribution. Shidaal Express failed to make this

9 contribution. On July 1, 2009, DFI terminated its approval of the transaction.

10 Fraudulent Misrepresentations and Omissions

11 18. Ahmed, who has never been licensed as a securities professional, orally promised

12 investors guaranteed 5% per month, or 60 % annual, returns on their investment. Although he

13 initially paid the promised returns, Ahmed stopped making these payments in late 2008. Despite

i 4 investors' repeated requests that Ahmed honor his promises, he has failed to pay them any

15 returns.

16 19. Ahmed promised investors that he would repay their principal at any time upon

17 request. Although investors have demanded return of their principal, since late 2008, Ahmed has

18 failed to return their funds. Instead, Ahmed has lulled investors into believing that their

19 investments are safe. To pacify some investors, Ahmed made small payments by check, which

20 were returned for insufficient funds. Ahmed misrepresented to several investors that he could

21 not repay them because the government had seized his assets. Ahmed threatened some investors

22 who were inclined to cooperate with the FBI by telling them that he and his associates had a lot

23 of "money and power." In another instance, from April to July 2009, Ahmed tried to extract

24 even more money from one unemployed investor by falsely promising him a position in a new

25 Shidaal Express location in San Jose, California, in exchange for additional funds. At least two

26 investors have retained an attorney and threatened to file a lawsuit against Ahmed. Ahmed told

27 several investors if they sued, they would get nothing.

28 20. . Ahmed misused investor funds raised for the money transfer business. Ahmed

5
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21

gave certain investors Shidaal Express stock certificates, but these investors do not appear do not

appear as shareholders on documents prepared by the Defendants. This shareholderlist, updated

as ofMay 12,2009, purportedly included the names and ownership interests ofall Shidaal

Express shareholders, but at least three investors who received Shidaal Express stock certificates

from Ahmed before May 2009 were not on the list.

21. Ahmed represented to at least one investor in 2008 that he was raising money to

obtain a money transfer license, which he claimed would prove profitable for Shidaal Express.

However, Shidaal Express was operating during this time as an authorized Money Service

Business under federal financial regulations and as an agent for a California-licensed money

transfer company. As such, Shidaal Express was already engaged in that business and

presumably had the appropriate registrati~ns and licenses to do so. During that time, the

Defendants were not working on obtaining a California license for Shidaal Express; rather, they

were attempting to acquire an interest in another entity and it appears that the Defendants

intended to use investors' money to pay the $500,000 consideration for acquiring that interest

instead of obtaining their own license, which was not disclosed to.investors.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FRAUD IN.THE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES

Violations of Section 17(a) Of the Securities Act

(Against Defendants Shidaal Express and Ahmed)

22. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 21

above.

with scienter, employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud;

obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of a material

fact or by omitting to state a material fact necessary in order to make the

b.

a.

22 23. Defendants Ahmed and Shidaal Express, and each of them, by engaging in the

23 conduct described above, directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities by the use of

24 means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use of the

25 mails:

26

27

28

6
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statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were

c.

25.

made, not misleading; or

engaged in transactions, practices, or courses ofbusiness which operated

or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.

24. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Ahmed and Shidaal

Express, and each of them, violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate,

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FRAUD IN CONNECTION WITH THE PuRCHASE OR SALE OF SECURITIES

Violations of Section lO(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule lOb-5 Thereunder

(Against Defendants Shidaal Express and Ahmed)

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 21

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13 above.

14 26. Defendants Ahmed and Shidaal Express, and each of them, by engaging in the

15 conduct described above, directly or indirectly, in connection with the purchase or sale of a

16 security, by the use ofmeans or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the

17 facilities of a national securities exchange, with scienter:

18 a. employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud;

19 b. made untrue statements of a material fact or omitted to state a material

20 fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the

21 circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or

22 c. engaged in acts, practices, or courses ofbusiness which operated or would

23 operate as a fraud or deceit upon other persons.

24 27. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants Ahmed and Shidaal

25 Express, and each ,of them, violated, and unless'restrained and enjoined will continue to violate,

26 Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §

27 240.lOb-5.

28 III

7
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1 PRAYER FOR RELIEF

2 WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:

3 L

4 Issue findings of fact and conclusions of law that Defendant Ahmed and Shidaal Express

. 5 committed the alleged violations.

6 li

7 issue judgments, in a form consistent with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil

8 Procedure, temporarily, preliminarily, and permanently enjoining Defendants Ahmed and

9 Shidaal Express, and their officers, agents, servants, employees and attorneys, and those in active

10 concert or participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of the order by personal

11 service or otherwise, and each of them, from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15

12 U.S.C. § 77q(a), and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule lOb-5

13 thereunder, 17 C.f.R. § 240.10b-5.

14 III.

15 Issue, in a form consistent with Rule 65 of the Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure, a

16 temporary restraining order and a preliminary injunction freezing the assets of each of the

17 Defendants and any entity affiliated with any ofthem, prohibiting each of the Defendants from

18 destroying documents, granting expedited discovery, and requiring accountings from each ofthe

19 Defendants.

20 IV.

21 Order the Defendants to disgorge all ill-gotten gains from the illegal conduct alleged

22 herein, together with prejudgment interest thereon.

23 v.

24 Order Defendants Ahmed and Shidaal Express to pay civil penalties pursuant to Section

25 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77t(d) and Section 21 (d)(3) of the Exchange Act, 15

26 U.S.C. §78u(d)(3).

27 III

28 III

8
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1

•
VI.

•
2 Issue, in a fonn consistent with Fed. R. Civ. P. 65, an order appointing a receiver over

3 Defendant Shidaal Express and the assets thereof.

4 VII.

5 Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity and the

6 Federal Rilles of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and

7 decrees that may be entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion for additional

8 relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.

9 VIII.

10 Grant such other and further relief as this Court may determine to be just and necessary.

11

1'2 DATED: November 18, 2009
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David S. Brown
Attorney for Plaintiff
Securities and Exchange Commission
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